# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 19-1721

#### **RONNY FORTUNE**,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR HUMBOLT COUNTY HONORABLE KURT STOEBE, JUDGE

# **APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

#### **PHILIP B. MEARS**

Mears Law Office 209 East Washington Street Paul-Helen Building, Suite 203 Iowa City, Iowa 52240

# **ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT**

# **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

On September 23, 2020, the undersigned certifies that a true copy of the foregoing instrument was served upon the Defendant-Appellant by placing one copy thereof in the United States mail, proper postage attached, addressed to:

Ronny Fortune

1005 Taft St S.

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

# I: SINCE RONNY FORTUNE WAS CLEARLY LOW-RISK TO REOFFEND, ON THE DEPARTMENT'S OWN ASSESSMENT TOOLS, THE COURT SHOULD HAVE MODIFIED HIM, REMOVING HIM FROM THE REGISTRY.

Packingham v. North Carolina, \_\_\_U.S\_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 198 L.Ed.2d 273 (2017) Schaefer v. Putnam, 841 N.W.2d 68, 74 (Iowa 2013)

Lewis v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 555 N.W.2d 216, 218 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Wallace, 2016 WL 6636681 \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Iowa District Court of Story County, 843 N.W.2d. 76 (Iowa 2014)

In the interest of A.J.M, 847 N.W. 2d 601 (Iowa 2014)

In Interest of T.H., 913 N.W.2d 578 (Iowa, 2018)

State v. Pickens 558 N.W.2d.396, 397 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Seering 701 N.W.2d. 655,667 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Aschbrenner 926 N.W.2d. 240 (Iowa 2019)

Bowman v. City of Des Moines Mun. Hous. Agency, 805 N.W.2d 790, 796 (Iowa 2011)

<u>State v. Maghee</u>, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997)

<u>Feller v. Scott Cty. Civil Serv. Comm'n</u>, 435 N.W.2d 387, 390 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

State v. Oliver 588 N.W.2d. 412, 414 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Majors 940 N.W.2d 372 (Iowa, March 6, 2020)

State v Roby, 897 N.W. 2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction to decide an issue of first impression. See Rule 6.1101(2)(c). The issue concerns Section 692A.128, the section of the Sex Offender Registry Chapter allowing for modification of the registration restrictions.

Section 692A.128(5) sets out certain criteria for modification. The chapter then says that a court "may but is not required to conduct a hearing on the application to hear any evidence deemed appropriate by the court. The court may modify the registration requirements under this chapter."

In the <u>Fortune</u> case, the court seemed satisfied that Fortune had satisfied the criteria identified for modification identified by the statute. The Court then rejected the application for a number of reasons that did not appear to be related to Fortune's risk of reoffending.

The court should retain the case to decide what, if any, discretion the court has in rejecting an application, once an applicant establishes that he satisfies the criteria set by the legislature.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# Nature of the Case:

This is an appeal from a civil case brought by Ronny Fortune under Section 692A.128 of the Code. Fortune has sought to modify the duration of his sex offender registry, to remove him from the registration requirement.

The case was filed in Humboldt County on August 3, 2018. After a hearing, the Court, Judge Kurt Stoebe, denied relief in an order on August 27, 2019. Appx. p. 6. A Motion to Amend or Enlarge the ruling was then denied on September 12, 2019. Appx. p. 31.

Fortune filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 11, 2019. Appx. p. 33

# **Course of Proceeding:**

Fortune committed the offense that got him on the Sex offender Registry in 2003. He was sentenced fifteen years in prison in a case in Hamilton County. While in prison he completed Sex Offender Treatment. He was released, first to work release and then to parole. He discharged the parole on January 3, 2011. As a result of that case, he was required to register for life.

In 2018, Fortune started the process under 692A.128 to be modified off the registry. As apparently required by section 692A.128, Fortune obtained a risk assessment report from the Department of Correctional Services (DCS). The report was dated April 23, 2018.

Fortune filed his Application to modify the Sex Offender Registry obligation in Humboldt County on August 3, 2018. Appx. p. 6. Filed on the same day was the report by the Department of Correctional Services (DCS) addressing his eligibility for modification under 692A.128. A Resistance was filed. Appx. p.6.

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 20, 2019. The Judge was Kurt Stoebe. Prior to the hearing, the DCS updated/corrected its assessment- something that had been requested by Fortune.

At the hearing there were two witnesses. Ashley Lappe testified. She was the DCS psychologist who conducted the risk assessment evaluation on Fortune. The second witness was in fact Ronny Fortune. Exhibits were submitted. Fortune's Exhibits primarily had to do with the risk assessment and the method of arriving at its conclusion. The State offered just two exhibits. Both were documents from Ronny Fortune's 2016 Humboldt County criminal case where he received the minimum sentence for failure to comply with a Sex Offender Registry requirement.

#### Decision dated August 27, 2019

Judge Kurt Stoebe handed down his decision on August 27, 2019 denying relief. Appx. p. 10. After acknowledging that the Department of Correctional Services had concluded that Fortune was low-risk to reoffend, the Judge rejected

the Application for Modification. He identified several reasons where, "any one of these factors justifies the Court's denial."

1. First, he pointed out that Fortune's test scores, as he called them, were not uniformly low (Ruling p.4 Appx. 13).<sup>1</sup>

2. Second, he noted that Fortune had two offenses in the almost ten years since he was released from prison. There had been a registration violation where he received the minimum sentence, and the disorderly conduct conviction.

3. The Court was quite concerned by the fact that Fortune got married originally six or seven years ago "to avoid a Department of Human Services investigation." The Court remarkably concluded that "the reasons for such an investigation are reasonable and to the Court's knowledge, DHS was not able to answer the concerns." (Ruling p.5 Appx 14).

4. The Court said the underlying offense cannot be ignored. The Judge pointed to Fortune's failure to accept blame for the situation. The Court came back to this theme by stating that Fortune had not demonstrated remorse for his underlying offense. (Ruling p.5 Appx. 14).

5. Finally, the Judge questioned Fortune's reasons for wanting to be removed from the Registry. Fortune had testified that he had been an emergency management volunteer for about a year before he was asked to step down for a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Page numbers did not appear on the ruling and have not been added since.

long as he was on the registry (Tr. p. 22 L. 11-23). Additionally, Fortune tried to become a volunteer firefighter during that same time period and was told that he could not volunteer until he was off the registry (Tr. p. 23 L. 9-17).

For the Judge, however, Fortune's reasons "raise more concerns." Here is what the judge said;

"Fortune's desire to be a first responder could put him into contact with vulnerable children and adults and the opportunity for inappropriate acts on unconscious, injured, frightened, or ill victims is hardly a reason to ignore his history of law violations, attitude of offenses, and murky psychological evaluation." (Ruling p.5-6 Appx 14-15).

# Motion to Amend

Fortune filed a timely Motion to Amend or Enlarge the Findings. He asked the Judge specifically to amend or enlarge many of the findings relating to the reasons for denying the application. See Motion to Amend, Appx. 17.

# Decision dated September 12, 2019.

The Court answered the Motion to Amend or Enlarge in a ruling dated September 12, 2019. At paragraph three of that Order, the Court responded to Fortune's point that the Registry prevented him from attending school functions for his step-children. The Court noted that attending school functions "would place him in close proximity to young and vulnerable children. It is a cause for concern, not a reason to remove Fortune." Ruling dated September 12, 2019, Appx 31.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

# The Facts Regarding the Criminal Case

Ronny Fortune is required to register because of a 2003 conviction from Hamilton County, Iowa in case FECR010447. In that case he was convicted, after a guilty plea, of three counts of Lascivious Acts with a Child, in violation of section 709.8 of the Iowa Code.

The sentencing order actually mentioned 709.8(1), 709.8(2) and 709.8(3), with one count for each subsection. The reference to 709.8(1) was significant because since 1999 that subsection, but not the others, carried lifetime on the registry.  $^{2}$ 

Most confusion about Lascivious Acts was removed with the code revisions to sex offenses in 2005. After July 1, 2005, subsections 1 and 2 were C felonies carrying lifetime on the Registry and a lifetime special. The remaining subsections were D felonies carrying ten year special sentences and ten years on the Registry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There was quite a bit of confusion about the crime of Lascivious Acts, Section 709.8, and registration prior to 2005. All subsections of Lascivious Acts prior to 2005 had the same criminal sentence.

In 1999, the Iowa legislature amended Chapter 692A, creating a list of offenses called "aggravated offenses." See 692A.1 (2000 Code) and current section 692A.101(1). Any "aggravated offense" carried lifetime on the Registry, even if it was a first violation requiring registration.

Prior to 1999, the registration was fairly easy to understand. There was ten years of registration for a first offense and lifetime for a second offense.

Subsection 1 of 709.8 was listed as an "aggravated offense" carrying lifetime on the Registry. The other subsections were not aggravated and therefore only carried ten years. It has been Counsel's experience, doing quite a bit of work in this area, that there was very little understanding of the Registration consequences of pleas to Lascivious Acts during that time. It was not unusual for sentencing orders to leave out the subsection entirely.

Fortune was sentenced on October 10, 2003 to five (5) years in prison for each of the three counts to be served consecutively. There was also an additional two year term of work release/parole. This applied to all Lascivious Acts sentences to prison at the time.<sup>3</sup>

The sentencing order did not mention any particular length of registration for sex offender registration.

Fortune served time in prison, completed sex offender treatment, and was released to Work Release on June 9, 2009. That became a parole on December 16, 2009. Fortune successfully completed parole, discharging the full sentence while on parole on January 3, 2011.

# **Registration Requirements**

Ronny Fortune has registered since he was released in 2009. Because of his conviction in 2003, Ronny Fortune is a Tier III sex offender. That means he has to report four times a year.

<sup>3</sup> After Fortune was released from prison, there was a question about the additional two years that was given with Lascivious Acts sentences prior to 2005. The legislature provided that there would be an additional two years of parole or work release after the five years. The question was if you had consecutive Lascivious Acts counts, did you get two years or six. The District Court found it was just two years. On appeal the Iowa Court of Appeals agreed. <u>State vs. Iowa District Court for Hamilton County</u>. 2011 WL 5877016 (Iowa Court of App. 2011)

Because Ronny Fortune had a victim who was a minor, he is subject to the "safe zone" restrictions found in 692A.113.

Ronny Fortune is required to register for life. That is because one of the Counts is regarded as an "aggravated offense" under current 692A.101(1)(a).

#### **Discussion of Risk assessment**

There are three recognized and validated tools or scoring methods generally used by Departments of Correctional Services (DCS) across the state. These are the STATIC99R, the ISORA and the STABLE2007. See Exhibit 1 which is the Department policy on modification. Ex. 1; Appx.p. 36. These are the tools that are "validated" and used by the "Department of Corrections." See 692A.128(1)(c).

In fact the DOC policy, which is followed by the DCS, requires all three tests to be used in these modification assessments. See Exhibit 1. Appx.p. 36.

There are also 'validated' methods for combining the tests to produce a "combined" score. The STATIC99R test can be combined with the two other tests.

This means there are a total of five "test" results that are usually used in the assessments in these cases.

#### **Scoring Summary**

The DCS written assessment for Fortune is Exhibit 3. Appx. p. 6. Here were Fortune's reported risk scores from the different tests, or combination of tests.

STATIC 99-R Average risk

ISORA	Low risk
STATIC 99-R/ ISORA combined	Low risk
STABLE 2007	Low risk
STATIC 99-R/ STABLE 2007 combined	Low risk

#### STATIC 99-R

The first tool mentioned in the assessment is the STATIC 99-R. This is a nationally developed and validated scoring system for determining risk for sexual reoffending.

The STATIC 99-R test instrument, in 2016, switched from using the terms "low," "Low-moderate," "moderate-high," or "high" to five levels relative to "average". The questions did not change. The scoring did not change. How that score was described is what was changed. See Exhibits 11 and 12, Appx. p.69-70. It would seem that "low" is now "Below average" or "Well below Average".

The change in scoring resolved some confusion about the use of the terms "high" and "low." It turns out that those terms were always about the relationship of the score to the "average". A person was "high" if the risk was greater than the "average." If the average risk was only 10%, for example, then a high risk would be greater than 10%. It would not mean 51%.

Obviously, to understand the score requires a knowledge of what is 'average."

Low risk turns out to be quite low, given the fact that the "average" score on the test itself is quite low.

There was another change in 2016 with the STATIC. The makers of the tool made clear at that time that the STATIC 99R score is measured from the point the person is released from prison, or begins probation. It is not measured from the time the assessment is done. For that reason the score itself it does not take into account behavior since that initial point.

This is true for factor #1, age of offender, as well as for factor #2, whether the person has 'lived with a lover for more than 2 years.

Fortune scored 3 on the STATIC test. That is "average risk". Before they changed the names that went with the scores, that would have been "moderate-low". See Ex. 4, Appx. p. 9.

#### Annotation to his STATIC score

Several comments are appropriate with regard to the scoring on the STATIC99, particularly in Fortune's case.

# Age (factor #1)

Fortune got a point on risk factor one. The assessor noted that he was between the ages of 18-34.9. The appropriate date to consider is the release date

from prison, which was June, 2009. On that date, he was 34 years and two months old.

Prior to 2016, the DCS interpreted that age factor to be age when the test was being given. See Exhibit 8; Appx. p. 14. The revision to the STATIC test in 2016 clarified that this first scoring factor is measured from the point when the person got out of prison or was placed on probation.

When you compare the score from the assessment in 2019 with the score from 2014, you can see they scored him as zero on the first factor, noting that he was in the second age group. That is because he was 39 years old in 2014 when that test was administered.

If DCS had not changed the scoring in 2016, he would actually have scored a -1 in 2019 on the age factor. That is because he was 44 at that time of the test. His overall score would have been a '1'.

#### **Risk factor number 10:- sex of the victim**

Fortune got one point for the fact that the victim was male. This is not in dispute. It should be noted that when the Iowa DOC developed the ISORA test in about 2010, they did not use the sex of the victim as one of the factors that they felt relevant. Nevertheless, the factor is still in the STATIC99 and has not changed, giving Fortune a point.

#### Time free in the community

Recent research by the authors of the STATIC99-R indicates that the way to update the risk for the passage of time is to consider behavior and offenses since release from prison. See Exhibit 9; Appx. p. 43. For every 5 years without a new sex offense, the risk % is cut in half. This, essentially means that if the risk was 3.9% percent upon release, it would be half that after five years of offense free behavior. See Hanson, R.K., Harris, A.J.R., Letourneau, E., Helmus, L.M., & Thornton, D. (2017, October 19). Reductions in Risk Based on Time Offense Free in the Community: Once a Sexual Offender, Not Always a Sexual Offender. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law.* Advance online publication.

# http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/law0000135

Figure 3 from that article appears as Exhibit 9. Appx. p. 43. It shows how a particular risk level goes down over time where there is offense free time in the community.

According to the chart, Fortune remains in Risk Level III after seven years.

Another mathematical way to look at time free in the community is that for every year of offense free behavior, the risk goes down about 8%. In the event that there are some non sexual offenses during that time, 3 years is subtracted from the number of years. (Tr. pg. 17 L. 3-10). If the measured risk in the STATIC was 4-8%, that number should be cut in half after 5 years, reducing the rate to 2-4%.

#### **ISORA**

The second assessment used is the Iowa Sex Offender Risk Assessment (called the ISORA). The ISORA is another validated scoring tool for measuring sex offender risk. The Validation study appears as Exhibit 10.

It was developed by the Department of Corrections and the Iowa Division of Criminal and Juvenile Justice Planning in 2010. It was based on a sample of over 1,000 sex offenders required to register on the Iowa Sex Offender Registry. The results were then cross validated against the STATIC 99. At the same time, a composite score was developed and validated, essentially being a combination of both the ISORA score and the STATIC 99.

The ISORA test, like the STATIC test, uses fairly objective information, which is subject to verification through DOC/DCS documents.

Ronny Fortune got an ISORA score of 2, putting him in the low risk range to reoffend. See Ex. 5, Appx. p. 10.

It is particularly important to understand that the DOC study found that the individuals in this risk category had a less than 1% recidivism rate for new sexual convictions. See Exhibit 10, pg. 4; Appx. p. 50.

#### **STABLE 2007**

The third scoring method used in the 2019 assessment was the STABLE-2007. The STABLE test is intended to consider "stable dynamic risk factors." A dynamic risk factor in the trade is essentially a clinical impression based on talking with the person. This is in contrast with "static" information, which is objective information, usually taken from court or prison/probation records.

DCS protocol calls for administering the STABLE test in addition to the two different "static" tests, those being the STATIC 99R and the ISORA. The consideration of dynamic factors by definition involves self reporting. That is what the whole test is about.

Ronny Fortune scored 3, which is low. See Ex. 6, Appx. p.11.

#### What do Combined scores mean

The 2010 Validation Study by the Iowa DOC looked at both the ISORA and the ISORA/STATIC 99-R combined. The study concluded that the combined score more effectively determines risk levels for males. See Exhibit 10, pg. 22, Appx. p. 68. Essentially, the idea is that different assessments cover slightly different risk factors. Therefore, combining the scores creates a more complete picture of an individual's overall risk level. At the hearing, Ashley Lappe testified that the combined score of two validated assessments carries more weight than the score of just one assessment. (Tr. p. 12, L. 14-18).

## STATIC 99-R/STABLE 2007 Combined Score

Fortune's combined score was low. See Ex. 3 p. 2, Appx. p. 7.

#### **ISORA/STATIC 99-R Combined Score**

Fortune's combined score was "low". See Ex. 7, Appx. p. 13.

These combined scores are important when the 2 tests are not the same. They are essentially validated tie breaking methods. A person, such as Fortune, with an average STATIC and a low ISORA should have a combined low score.

#### A low risk is really low

Predicting reoffending rates has been an incredibly developed statistical science. For over twenty years, Iowa, like about half of the states, has civilly committed individuals with certain "mental illness" where a judge or jury can determine that the person is more likely than not to reoffend. See generally Chapter 299A.

Tests have been developed, using both objective and subjective data, to predict such recidivism. These models have been statistically "validated". That is a scientific word meaning that you use statistics to create a model and match that with certain predictive factors and test for correlation. These models actually

produce numbers for probabilities given the presence of certain characteristics or scores on these validated instruments.

For years, people who used these instruments put the scores into categories such as low, medium, and high. What was not immediately clear from these pigeon-holed scores was what these terms meant.

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