#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### NO. 19-1721

### RONNY FORTUNE,

Applicant-Appellant,

VS.

### STATE OF IOWA,

Respondent-Appellee.

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR HUMBOLDT COUNTY THE HONORABLE KURT J. STOEBE

## APPELLEE STATE OF IOWA'S FINAL BRIEF AND CONDITIONAL REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA

JOHN R. LUNDQUIST Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building 1305 E. Walnut St., 2nd Fl. Des Moines, Iowa 50319 Ph: (515) 281-3658

Fax: (515) 281-3658 Fax: (515) 281-4209

E-mail: john.lundquist@ag.iowa.gov ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE STATE OF IOWA

#

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT REASONABLY FOUND THAT MODIFICATION OF FORTUNE'S SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION REQUIREMENT POSED AN UNDUE RISK TO PUBLIC SAFETY DESPITE HIS ASSESSED LOW RISK TO REOFFEND.

#### A. Standard of Review.

Iowa Code section 692A.128 "grants the district court authority to modify [sex offender] registration obligations if certain conditions are met." *State v. Wallace*, No. 15-1448, 2016 WL 6636681 at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App., Nov. 9, 2016) (*quoting State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Story Cnty.*, 843 N.W.2d 76, 77 (Iowa 2014)). The District Court's conclusion on whether an applicant has satisfied the mandatory statutory prerequisites are reviewed for errors of

law and the underlying fact findings for substantial evidence. *Wallace*, 2016 WL 6636681 at \*2.

If an applicant satisfies the statutory preconditions, the District Court "may modify the registration requirements." Iowa Code § 692A.128(5) (emphasis added). Because the authority conferred by this provision is clearly discretionary, the District Court's ultimate conclusion granting or denying a modification application is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Wallace, 2016 WL 6636681 at \*2. "An abuse of discretion occurs when a district court exercises its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable." State v. Wilson, 878 N.W.2d 203, 210-11 (Iowa 2016).

#### **B.** Preservation of Error.

Fortune filed an application for modification of his sex offender registry requirements and obtained the District Court's ruling upon that application. (*See* Application; 8/27/2019 Ruling; App. 6; 10). Fortune subsequently filed for reconsideration of the District Court's ruling arguing that the District Court failed to give proper consideration to his risk assessment results and other evidence presented at hearing. (*See* Motion to Reconsider; 9/12/2019 Ruling; App. 17-30; 31-32). The question of whether the District Court

abused its discretion in denying Fortune's application for modification is accordingly preserved for appellate review.

### C. Argument.

The District Court reasonably denied Fortune's application for modification of his sex offender registration requirement. In so doing, it properly rejected Fortune's overly restrictive interpretation of the modification statute. Instead, the District Court gave appropriate consideration to Fortune's inconsistent risks assessments, his history of non-compliance with registry requirements and evasive behaviors, the underlying facts of his criminal offense, and the lack of a compelling basis justifying the intrusion upon public safety a modification would pose.

## Overview of Sex Offender Registry

The Iowa Department of Public Safety is mandated by law to maintain a central registry of information collected from persons required by Iowa law to register as sex offenders. Iowa Code § 692A.118. Persons convicted of any of the statutorily delineated criminal offenses involving sexual misconduct, including lascivious acts with a child, shall register as sex offenders in the state of Iowa. Iowa Code §§ 692A.102, 692A.103. In most cases, a person convicted of a qualifying sex offense is required to register for a minimum period of ten years. Iowa Code §§ 692A.103(1), 692A.106(1).

However, because his offense is characterized as an "aggravated offense" under Iowa law, Fortune is required to register as a sex offender for life. *See* Iowa Code § 692A.106(5) ("A sex offender shall . . . upon conviction of an aggravated offense . . . register for life.").

This Court has held that the purpose of Iowa Code chapter 692A is clear: "to require registration of sex offenders and thereby protect society from those who because of probation, parole, or other release are given access to members of the public." In re S.M.M., 558 N.W.2d 405, 408 (Iowa 1997); see also State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Story Cnty., 843 N.W.2d 76, 81 (Iowa 2014) ("the purpose of the registry is protection of the health and safety of individuals, and particularly children, from individuals who, by virtue of probation, parole, or other release, have been given access to members of the public"); State v. Pickens, 558 N.W.2d 396, 400 (Iowa 1997) ("the statute was motivated by concern for public safety, not to increase the punishment"). Thus, Iowa Code chapter 692A's registration requirements were not enacted to punish adult perpetrators like Fortune, but to promote public safety through See, e.g., State v. Aschbrenner, 926 the dissemination of information.<sup>1</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court, however, has found Iowa's sex offender registration statute punitive as to juvenile offenders. *In re T.H.*, 913 N.W.2d 578, 596 (Iowa 2018).

N.W.2d 240, 248 (Iowa 2019); *Pickens*, 558 N.W.2d at 400; *In re S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408. Therefore, any alleged ambiguities in Iowa's sex offender law or uncertainties as to its application to a particular offender should be resolved in favor of furthering public safety by requiring continued registration. Iowa Code § 4.4(5) ("Public interest is favored over any private interest"); *see Teamsters Local Union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque*, 706 N.W.2d 709, 717 (Iowa 2005).

### Registration Modification

Persons required to be registered as sex offenders in the state of Iowa can make application to the district court in their county of residence for modification of their registration requirements. Iowa Code § 692A.128. Among the requirements that must be met before an applicant's request for modification can be granted are that "[t]he sex offender has successfully completed all sex offender treatment programs that have been required," that "[a] risk assessment has been completed and the sex offender was classified as a low risk to reoffend;" and "[t]he sex offender is not incarcerated when the application is filed." Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(b), (c) & (d). For persons classified as a Tier III sex offender like Fortune, five years must have elapsed since the commencement of their registration requirement. Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(a). Lastly, persons subject to ongoing corrections supervision

must also procure a stipulation from the judicial district department of correctional services agreeing to the modification. Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(e).

The State does not contest that Fortune has demonstrated each of the applicable preconditions for seeking modification of his sex offender registration requirement. Fortune's registration requirement commenced nine years prior to his application for modification. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(a). He had completed all required sex offender treatment. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(b). He submitted with his application the results of a validated risk assessment approved by the Iowa Department of Corrections that found him to be at low risk to reoffend. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(c). Fortune was released from prison in 2009. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(1)(d). The stipulation of the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services was not required because Fortune discharged his sentence in 2011 and he is no longer subject to corrections supervision. See Iowa Code § 692A.128(6).

Fortune's contention, however, that mere demonstration of the above criteria automatically entitles him to modification of his sex offender registration is belied by the plain language of the statute and must be rejected. Rather, as the Legislature has unambiguously instructed, once the requisite

eligibility criteria are established, the District Court may – but is not compelled to – modify any registration requirements applicable to the applying offender. Iowa Code § 692A.128(5) ("The [district] court may modify the registration requirements under this chapter.");  $see\ Wallace$ , 2016 WL 6636681 at \*2 ("The authority conferred by this provision is clearly discretionary.");  $see\ also\ State\ v.\ Adams$ , 554 N.W.2d 686, 690 (Iowa 1996) ("use of the word "may" shows the legislature's intention to confer a discretionary power, not to impose a requirement");  $State\ ex\ rel.\ Lankford\ v.\ Allbee$ , 544 N.W.2d 639, 641 (Iowa 1996) ("word "may" indicates that the director has discretion"); Iowa Code § 4.1(30)(c) ("The word "may" confers a power.").

Nor was the District Court required to defer solely to the final risk assessment scoring in determining whether to grant Fortune his requested modification. Such an interpretation would again render the District Court's delegated discretion under the statute without meaning. *See Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d 376, 380 (Iowa 2000) ("When construing the statute, we read the language used, and give effect to every word."). Had the Legislature intended such a result, it would have commanded that the District Court *shall* modify the registration requirements of any eligible sex offender who was

deemed to be at low risk to reoffend on a validated assessment. *Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d at 379 ("A court determines intent from "what the legislature said, not from what it might or should have said."). Thus, in addition to assessed risk, the District Court can reasonably rely upon any number of factors, including examining a person's long-term behaviors and proclivities, to determine whether, in its informed opinion, modification of any particular sex offender's registration requirements would unduly place public safety at risk.

Nor was the District Court wrong in rejecting Fortune's invitation to apply the modification structure applicable to juvenile offenders to adult offenders like himself. As correctly noted by the District Court: "The sentencing goals for juvenile and adult offenders and the differing psychological traits of adult and juvenile offenders have led to far different protocols in rehabilitation, sentencing, treatment, protection of the public and other dispositional goals." (8/27/2020 Ruling at p. 4.; App. 13). This Court has also recognized that the registration of juvenile sex offenders "is readily distinguishable based on the unique concerns of juvenile offenders that are inapplicable to adult offenders. Adult offenders are better able to meaningfully reintegrate into the community and interact with their peer groups notwithstanding the restrictions in the sex offender registration

statute . . . ." *Aschbrenner*, 926 N.W.2d at 248. It is therefore unquestioned that there are significant public policy reasons justifying treatment of adult offenders differently than juvenile offenders. *See, e.g., State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009).

### Discretion Reasonably Applied

While the discretion to deny an application for modification is undoubtedly not without limits, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in this case as the factors it weighed were sufficiently correlated to the public safety goals of Iowa Code chapter 692A to reasonably justify the denial of Fortune's request. *Cf. State v. McNeal*, 897 N.W.2d 697, 710 (Iowa 2017) (Cady, C.J., concurring specially) ("Discretion expresses the notion of latitude."). As noted above, the sex offender registry exists to enhance public safety by facilitating the dissemination of information to the community at large. E.g., Aschbrenner, 926 N.W.2d at 247-48. Before agreeing to foreclose the public's access to Fortune's conviction information through the sex offender registry, the District Court properly sought to inventory Fortune's background and circumstances in an effort to determine whether the anticipated effect upon public safety of such a modification would be acceptably limited.

The District Court initially expressed concern that Fortune's risk assessments did not uniformly score at low risk to reoffend. This finding is supported by the record as the updated Static 99-R performed for Fortune found him to be at level III or "average risk" to reoffend. (Exhibit 3 at p. 2; Conf. App. 7; see Exhibit 12 – Static 99-R Tally Sheet; App. 70). This enhanced scoring was the result of modifications made to this risk assessment tool in 2016. (8/20/2019 Transcript at p.7, 1.22 - p.8, 1.17). With these revisions, Fortune now scored near the middle or average and not at the low end of the scale on the Static 99-R. (See Exhibit 12; App. 70). So, while the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services found that Fortune overall was considered to be at low risk to reoffend, the District Court was not wrong in observing that the assessments were not unanimous in this finding. (8/27/2019 Ruling at p. 4; App. 13).

Fortune seeks to diminish the importance of this outlier by claiming that the raw statistical chance of him reoffending still remains relatively small. Regardless of the actual recidivism percentage this moniker represents, Fortune cannot dispute that his "average risk" to reoffend as measured on this assessment is greater than other offenders who scored at either "very low risk" or "below average risk" to reoffend.

The District Court also examined Fortune's criminal history since his release from prison. (8/27/2019 Ruling at pp. 4-5; App. 13-14). Fortune's conviction for disorderly conduct that arose from a domestic disturbance raised reasonable questions as to whether Fortune has mastered the skills needed to effectively modulate his impulse control when interacting with others. (*See* Exhibit 6; Conf. App. 11).

More disturbingly was Fortune's conviction for failing to comply with sex offender registry requirements. (See Exhibits A, B; App. 75-79; 81-83). As noted by the District Court, this offense involved Fortune engaging in purposeful deception to evade Facebook's prohibition on sex offenders using its services. (8/27/2019 Ruling at pp. 4-5; App. 13-14). Ashley Lappe, the Judicial District Department of Correctional Services psychologist who conducted Fortune's risk assessments, found his noncompliance concerning "to some degree" because "being able to follow the stipulations of the registry would indicate a pro social individual." (8/20/2019 Transcript at p.15, 1.19 – p.16, 1.3). If Fortune cannot be trusted to do the right things when he is facing potential criminal consequences, the District Court could reasonably discount Fortune's present assurances that modification would not undermine public safety. Fortune may have viewed his own noncompliant behavior as not "a big deal" but the seriousness with which the Legislature views noncompliance with registry requirements is evidenced by the fact that in addition to any criminal penalty imposed, an offender's term of registration shall be extended ten years for each conviction entered. (8/20/2019 Transcript at p.28, ll.10-14); *see* Iowa Code § 692A.104(4). Consequently, this one conviction alone is grounds to deny Fortune's modification request.

Fortune's impulsive behavior of marrying someone he only recently met in an admitted scheme to derail an ongoing DHS abuse investigation further illustrates his willingness to act in manner that circumvents the public safety intentions of the registry statute. (8/27/2019 Ruling at p. 5; App. 14; see 8/20/2019 Transcript at p.19, 1.8 – p.20, 1.6). While marriage did remove the specter of a child endangerment finding from his relationship with his now wife, the episode still raises legitimate questions as to the extent of the machinations we would engage to avoid detection of his misdeeds. See Iowa Code § 726.6(1)(h).

Unlike some registered sex offenders, Fortune is not struggling to find a place to live or to obtain necessary medical or vocational services due to his registry requirements. Fortune was able to attend school and he is gainfully employed. (8/20/2019 Transcript at p.20, 1.16 – p.22, 1.1). Fortune is not without remedy to attend his stepchildren's school activities as he has the right to petition the school directly for such permission. Nothing in Iowa Code

chapter 692A precludes *per se* his participation on or access to social media platforms. The District Court accordingly did not error in observing that Fortune's simple inconvenience with the obligations and restrictions attendant with his sex offender registration status was not a compelling reason to grant his modification petition. (8/27/2019 Ruling at pp. 6-7; 9/12/2019 Ruling at p. 1; App. 15-16; 31).

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